
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

January 21, 2025 5:30 pm 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember John Riggs   

 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

 

A) Presentation by Anna Chafin, President and CEO of RISE (Regional Industry Support 

Enterprise), regarding regional workforce development. 

B) Recognition of the inaugural cohort of the Emerging Leaders Academy.  

 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 01-07-2025 Council Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion to approve the surplus and disposition of a 1996 E-One 

Aerial Apparatus in the Statesboro Fire Department. 

 

6. Public Hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: APPLICATION RZ 24-11-

01: Luis Gonzalez requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (One-Household 

Residential) zoning district to the R-3 (Medium Density Multi-Household Residential) 

zoning district in order to develop additional units on a 0.87-acre property located at 509 

East Main Street (Tax Parcel# MS57000008000). 

 

7. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: APPLICATION V 24-12-01: 

Peak Point Properties, LLC requests a variance from Table 2.2.9-B to remove the 10-foot 

Maximum Front Yard Setback on a 5.51-acre property located on Stambuk Lane (Tax 

Parcel #MS63000026 000). 

 

8. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve: APPLICATION RZ 24-12-02:  

Black Creek Investments, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-6 (One-

Household Residential) to the R-3 (Medium Density MultiHousehold Residential) zoning 

district on 0.28 acres of property in order to develop multi-household units with 4 

buildings on a property located at 111 West Inman Street (Tax Parcel # S19 000097 000). 

 

9. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

A. Reliance2024 Inc  

     Sandipkumar D. Patel 

     17412 US Hwy 301 N 

     License Type: Package Sales (beer and wine only) 



 

 

10. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

A. Antoinette Café Kitchen 

Nikira Boggs, Samere Adams 

193 West Main St.  

License Type: Restaurant 

  

B. Huey’s of Statesboro 

Johny King 

232 South Main St.  

License Type: Restaurant 

 

C. Happy Wok Asian Buffet Inc. 

Hao Lin, Kevin Lin 

26 Independence Way 

License Type: Restaurant  

 

11. Hearing to consider a motion to revoke a massage parlor license for Lisa’s Therapeutic 

Massage located at 609 Brannen Street on the grounds that illegal activity has occurred at 

the business location. This hearing is being conducted pursuant to City of Statesboro 

Ordinances 18-141 and 18-143.   

 

12. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2025-03: A Resolution to adopt the 

Third Amendment to the City of Statesboro Schedule of Rates, Fees, and Fines for Fiscal 

Year 2025. 

 

13. Consideration of a motion to approve a lease agreement to provide office space to 

Representative Rick Allen for an additional two years with no rent assessed. 

 

14. Consideration of a motion to approve a contract with Goodwin Mills Cawood (GMC) in 

the amount of $60,000.00 to perform a fire services study for the Statesboro Fire 

Department. This work will be paid from the Statesboro Fire Service Fund Operating 

Budget. 

 

15. Consideration of a motion to approve a Memorandum of Understanding with Habitat for 

Humanity and Agape Worship Center regarding the residential development of real 

property in the Johnson Street area.  

 

16. Consideration of a Motion to approve a Purchase Agreement with Marilyn Avila and 

Brenda W Meeks in the amount of $698,340.00 for the purchase of 38.73 acres of land at 

431 Lakeview Road for the inert landfill. The project will be paid from Solid Waste 

Disposal Fund Operating Income and 2019 SPLOST funds. 

 

17. Consideration of a motion to approve an award to purchase a 15 passenger SWAT van to 

LVD Custom Specialty Vehicles who  submitted the lowest responsive bid in the amount 

of $146,255.00. If approved, this purchase will be funded by the 2019 SPLOST. 

 



 

 

18. Consideration of a motion to award the purchase of a 2025 F250 4x4 Crew Cab for the 

Parks Division to JC Lewis Ford in the amount of $50,252.00. If awarded, this purchase 

will be funded out of the GMA Lease Pool. 

 

19. Other Business from City Council 

 

20.  City Managers Comments 

 

21. Public Comments (General) 

 

22. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

23. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
JANUARY 07, 2025 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Tangie Johnson Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Ginny Hendley Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Affairs Manager Layne 
Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 

A) Presentation by Kameron Mitchell, Public Affairs Specialist from the Small Business 
Administration (SBA), Office of Disaster Recovery & Resilience regarding available 
disaster programs.  

 
Kameron Mitchell was not present.  
 

B) Presentation of the 2024 Georgia Transit Association (GTA) Performance Award granted 
to the Statesboro Area Transit (SAT) system.  

 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar presented the 2024 Georgia Transit Association Performance Award for the Statesboro Area 
Transit (SAT) system to Kiara Ahmed, Project Manager for developing SAT, John Washington, Director of Public 
Works and Engineering, Richard Smiley, Streets and Parks Superintendent and Jimmy Green interim Transportation 
Director with Coastal Regional Commission.  
This award recognizes a Georgia transit system that has demonstrated improvement and outstanding performance, 
including ridership, customer service, and service expansion. Statesboro Area Transit was chosen to receive this award 
out of over 120 operating transit systems in Georgia.   
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):   
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 12-17-2024 Council Minutes 
b) 12-17-2024 Executive Session Minutes 



2 
 

A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
 

6. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2025-01: A Resolution to fix and publish 
qualifying fees for the City of Statesboro November 4, 2025 General Election. 
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2025-01: A Resolution to fix and publish qualifying fees for the City of 
Statesboro November 4, 2025 General Election.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
 

7. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2025-02: A Resolution to add membership 
in a fund of the Georgia Interlocal Risk Management Agency (GIRMA) fund.   

 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2025-02: A Resolution to add membership in a fund of the Georgia Interlocal 
Risk Management Agency (GIRMA) fund.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Tangie Johnson 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



 

3 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to amend the contract with Mill Creek Construction in the 
estimated amount of $47,740.70 for the FY2024 annual resurfacing project for work based on 
unit pricing provided by the contractor. This project is paid for by GDOT LMIG funds and 
TSPLOST funds. 

 
A motion was made to amend the contract with Mill Creek Construction in the estimated amount of $47,740.70 for the 
FY2024 annual resurfacing project for work based on unit pricing provided by the contractor. This project is paid for by 
GDOT LMIG funds and TSPLOST funds.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Xylem Dewatering Solutions, Inc. for the 
purchase of a Godwin 4 inch portable, diesel backup pump (Model # CD100S) per the Florida 
Sheriff’s Association cooperative purchasing contract in the amount of $49,109.34. This item 
to be purchased with funds approved in the 2025 CIP Budget, item #WWD-37, funded by the 
2019 SPLOST. 

 
A motion was made to award a contract to Xylem Dewatering Solutions, Inc. for the purchase of a Godwin 4 inch 
portable, diesel backup pump (Model # CD100S) per the Florida Sheriff’s Association cooperative purchasing contract 
in the amount of $49,109.34. This item to be purchased with funds approved in the 2025 CIP Budget, item #WWD-37, 
funded by the 2019 SPLOST.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 

10. Other Business from City Council 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr saluting former Governor and President Jimmy Carter who just passed away at the age of 
100 and has been such a model of a statesman public service and how we can live our values. 
 

11. City Managers Comments 
City Manager Charles Penny brought to Mayor and Councils attention a memo in the FYI packet with a list of items the 
City used the ARPA funds. We did not have to send any funds back. Mr. Penny shared that on January 13th smoke testing 
will be conducted on some of the City’s sewer mains. Then on January 9th the City of Brooklet will be hosting a 
groundbreaking for their new sewer system.  

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Tangie Johnson 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



4 
 

   
12. Public Comments (General): None 

 
13. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 
There was no need for executive session. 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT: 
 
 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:23 am.  
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Tangie Johnson 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Johnson, Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

 



Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

City Council Agenda Memorandum 
 
To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From: Timothy E. Grams, Fire Chief 
 
Date: 1-15-2025 
 
RE: Surplus and disposition of 1996 E-One Aerial Apparatus (Ladder 2) 
 
Policy Issue: NA  
 
Recommendation: Approve the surplus and disposition of Ladder 2 
 
Background:  In September 2024, the City Council approved the purchase of two new aerial apparatus 
for the Statesboro Fire Department. The department expects to take delivery of one of these new aerial 
apparatus within the next 60 to 90 days. One of the department’s current aerial units, Ladder 2, is no 
longer in service due to significant motor issues that would require extensive and costly repairs. Given 
the age of Ladder 2, its current out-of-service status, and the impending arrival of the new apparatus, it 
is recommended that Ladder 2 be surplused. 
 
Budget Impact: Any money received from the sale of this vehicle will be deposited into the Statesboro 
Fire Fund.  
 
Council Person and District: NA 
 
Attachments: NA 
 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 
Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 

 
  

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

 

  

 

 

   

  

  

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348
  STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk

From:  Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator

Date:  January 10, 2025

RE:  January 21, 2025  City Council Agenda Items

Policy Issue:  Unified Development Code:  Zoning Map Amendment Request

Recommendation:  Planning Commission recommends  Denial  of the  Zoning Map

Amendment  requested by  RZ  24-11-01.

Background:  Luis Gonzalez requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the  R-15 

(One-Household Residential) zoning district to the R-3 (Medium Density  Multi-

Household  Residential)  zoning district in order to develop additional units on a 

0.87-acre property  located at  509 East Main Street (Tax Parcel# MS57000008 

000).

Budget Impact:  None

Council Person and District:  Johnson  (District  1)

Attachments:  Development Services Report  RZ  24-11-01

http://www.statesboroga.gov/
http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 24-11-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

LOCATION: 509 East Main Street  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-15 (Single-Family Residential) 

ACRES: 0.87 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS70000008 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 1 (Johnson)  

EXISTING 
USE: 

Single-Family Home  

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Multi-Family Residential  

PETITIONER                 Luis Gonzalez 

ADDRESS                     4937 Statesboro Highway; Sylvania GA, 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Same as Above 

ADDRESS                    Same as Above 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district to the R-3 (Medium Density Residential) zoning district in order 
to develop additional units on the property.  

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 24-11-01– DENIAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: R-15 (One-Household Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Northeast Location Area #2: R-15 (One-Household Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Northwest Location Area #3: R-15 (One-Household Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

East Location Area #4: R-15 (One-Household Residential)  Single-Family Dwelling 

West Location Area #5: R-15 (One-Household Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #6: R-3 (Medium Density Multi-
Household Residential) 

Multi-Family Dwelling 

Southeast Location Area #7: MX (Mixed-Use) Service Station 

South Location Area #8: MX (Mixed-Use)  Service Station 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is an occupied 0.87-acre lot with a house on the site. The applicant intends 
to develop additional multifamily units on the site and maintain the existing house as a 
compound.  

The 2024 City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject site in the 
“Established Residential Neighborhood” character area, which generally allows for the 
development of a number of residential housing types. Specific language determines 
multifamily in areas “where appropriate.” 

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands, nor is it in a flood zone. Adjacent properties 
to this site, do contain wetlands. Due to the proposed increase in impervious surfaces with 
this property, it would be required that the owner ensure some detention be provided to 
allow for appropriate stormwater mitigation as per the UDC. This site would also be required 
to ensure that pervious pavers are added to the proposed parking lot.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property has access to both city water and sewer, and it is not projected that 
the traffic will be substantially impacted based on the draft proposed site plan.  

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS FOR DETERMINATION 

The Unified Development Code permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.”  

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties. Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

• While the comprehensive plan does allow for some medium-density 
development in the “Established Residential Neighborhood” character area, 
it is generally in reference to the most appropriate places where there is 
already a substantial footprint of increased density. All the properties 
located along Ramble Road are single-family in nature, and increased 
density is generally found further South and East towards the existing 
schools in the area. 

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of 
adjacent or nearby property? 

• It is likely that the property will have some traffic impacts primarily on 
Rumble Road, but this could be exacerbated easily due to the increase exits 
directly onto East Main Street. After review with the applicant and architect, 
a reduction in units has been proposed, but this reduction as shown on the 
non-binding sketch plan does not represent the maximum development as 
noted by the proposed zoning.  



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

3. Does the property to be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as 
currently zoned? 

• The property already has a home on the site, and the current zoning 
district does allow a by-right use for up to one accessory dwelling unit of 
up to 750 square feet on the property.  

 
4. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon 

the property owner. 

• The site is usable in its current state and could potentially see an increase 
in density based on the current zoning regulations.  
 

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either 
approval or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

• The development would encroach on an existing single-family 
neighborhood and could create some issues with traffic serving the 
existing Ramble Road.   
 

6. Does the zoning proposal conform to the Long-Range Land Use Plan of the 
Municipality? 

• It is Staff’s opinion that the project does not conform to the 
Comprehensive Plan due to the potential density of the project and 
associated development area. If approved, specific conditions would need 
to be placed on the property to restrict the maximum development to what 
is proposed on the site plan, and this is not a recommended practice. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

 
Sketch Plan 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

Subject Property 

 
 

Eastern Property 

 
 
 
 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

Western Property 

 
 

Southern Property 

 
 
 
 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-11-01 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Denial of RZ 24-11-01 due to a lack of compatibility with the 
surrounding neighborhood. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and City Council, it 
should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated condition(s): 

1. Approval of this zoning map amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
property. All construction must be reviewed and approved by the City. 

2. Cottage courts shall not be an allowed use on this property due to the potential 
increase in traffic generation, and necessary detention.  

3. There must be sufficient buffering on all sides of the site to allow for an increase in 
screening for the property.  

At the regular scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on December 3, 2024, The 
Commission recommended denial of the requests with a 6-0 vote. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council on December 17, 2024, The Council 
recommended deferral of the project until the meeting scheduled on January 21, 2024.  

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 
Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  
 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov

  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

Date: January 10, 2025 

RE: January 21, 2025 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: Unified Development Code: Variance Request 

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends approval of the Variance 

requested by V 24-12-01.  

Background: Peak Point Properties, LLC requests a variance from Table 2.2.9-B to 

remove the 10-foot Maximum Front Yard Setback on a 5.51-acre property 

located on Stambuk Lane (Tax Parcel #MS63000026 000). 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: Barr (District 5) 

Attachments: Development Services Report V 24-12-01 

  

http://www.statesboroga.gov/
http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 24-12-01 

ZONING VARIANCE REQUEST 

LOCATION: Stambuk Lane 
 

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

MX (Mixed Use) 

ACRES: 5.1 acres  

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS630000026 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 5 (Barr) 

EXISTING 
USE: 

Vacant Lot 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Hotel 

PETITIONER                Peak Point Properties, LLC 

ADDRESS                    735 Broad Street, Suite 500; Chattanooga TN, 37402 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Cody Rogers  

ADDRESS                    1211 Merchant Way, Suite 201; Statesboro GA, 30458 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant requests a variance from Article 2.2.9-B of the Unified Development Code in 
order to develop a hotel on the property. 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

V 24-12-01 – CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: MX (Mixed Use) Vehicle Repair Shop 

Northeast Location Area #2: PUD (Planned Unit Development) Garden District Apartments 

East Location Area #3: PUD (Planned Unit Development) Kidovations 

Northwest Location Area #4: MX (Mixed Use)  Vehicle Repair Shop 

Southeast Location Area #5: R-4 (High-Density Residential) The Connection Apartments 

South Location Area #6: R-4 (High-Density Residential) The Connection Apartments 

Southwest Location Area #7: R-4 (High-Density Residential) The Connection Apartments 

West Location Area #8: R-4 (High-Density Residential) The Connection Apartments 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is a 5.51-acre wooded lot located on Stambuk Lane directly between an 
existing car repair shop, Dialysis Center and Daycare. The applicant requests a variance 
on this site, due to the need for additional parking as a part of the overall hotel development. 
The applicant expects to develop an additional parcel closer to the existing roadway. The 
request is specifically related to the setback amendment under consideration for a future 
Council meeting in order to better serve the development requests throughout the MX 
District.  

The City of Statesboro 2024 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject site as a 
part of the “Activity/Regional Center” character area, which generally calls pedestrian 
oriented shopping, high-density residential development, office and entertainment.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property is not in a special flood hazard area, and does not contain wetlands  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The existing roadway should allow for a smooth transition of traffic due to the existing light 
on the intersection of Veterans Memorial Parkway and Stambuk Lane. In addition, the 
property has sufficient space to prevent significant traffic congestion by providing a second 
means of egress. It is recommended that the developer verifies the potential traffic impacts 
utilizing Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) metrics, but this item may be 
resolved during project review. 

ZONING VARIANCE STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

The Statesboro Unified Development Code provides for the award of variances by the 
City Council from the zoning regulations. Section 2.7.4 of the Unified Development Code 
Ordinance states that the Mayor and Council shall consider the following criteria: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in 
question because of its size, shape, topography, or other physical 
characteristic and that condition is not common to other land or buildings 
in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

• The required maximum setback would not be in alignment with already 
existing commercial uses in the area. In addition, the current standard of 
zoning is being reviewed for amendment due to lack of compatible 
development throughout the City.   

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions 
of the applicant; 

• The institution of the Unified Development Code requires a smaller 
setback than traditionally utilized in the City of Statesboro. The 10-foot 
setback would best be utilized on a newly planned multi-commercial 
development.     

3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would 
create an unnecessary hardship; 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

• The type of business re quires extensive parking, and a hotel could not 
be best served by an extremely small setback.  

 

4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 

• There would be no public detriment with this development, beyond the 
substantial loss of tree canopy as proposed by this and future 
development in the area.  

 

In analyzing all requests, care should be taken to ensure that development remains 
consistent with the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan and the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance and that serve to mitigate negative effects of the use to the surrounding 
area’s character, uses, and zones.  

• The proposed use is consistent with the subject site’s character area 
“Activity/Regional Center” as stated in the 2024 Comprehensive Master 
Plan as this is an appropriately scaled commercial use.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

Subject Property 

 

Western Property 

 

  



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

Eastern Property 

 

Southern Property 

 

 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

Sketch Plan 

 

 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case V 24-12-01  

 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval V 24-12-01. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and City 
Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

(1) Approval of this variance does not grant the right to begin construction. All construction 
must be reviewed and approved by the City.  

(2) All ingress and egress for the property must utilize GDOT metrics to ensure 
appropriate site distance on the project.  

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on January 7, 2025, the 
Commission recommended approval of the request and staff conditions with a 7-0 vote 

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 
Leah Harden, City Clerk 

Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348  
 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   www.statesboroga.gov

  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

Date: January 10, 2025 

RE: January 21, 2025 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: Unified Development Code: Zoning Map Amendment 

Recommendation: Planning Commission recommends approval of the Zoning 

Map Amendment requested by RZ 24-12-02.  

Background: Black Creek Investments, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment 

from the R-6 (One-Household Residential) to the R-3 (Medium Density Multi-

Household Residential) zoning district on 0.28 acres of property in order to 

develop multi-household units with 4 buildings on a property located at 111 West 

Inman Street (Tax Parcel # S19 000097 000). 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: Chavers (District 2) 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 24-12-02 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/
http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 24-12-02 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

LOCATION: 111 West Inman Street  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

R-6 (One-Household Residential) 

ACRES: 0.87 acres 

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

S19 0000097 000 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 2 (Chavers)  

EXISTING 
USE: 

Single-Family Home  

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Multi-Family Residential  

PETITIONER                 Black Creek Investments, LLC 

ADDRESS                     2049 Highway 119 N, Ellabel GA, 31308 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     Ryan Poythress (Maxwell-Reddick & Associates) 

ADDRESS                    40 Joe Kennedy Blvd; Statesboro GA, 30458 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-6 (One-Household 
Residential) zoning district to the R-3 (Medium Density Multi-Household Residential) 
zoning district in order to redevelop the property for small apartment units. 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 24-12-02– CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1:  R-3 (Medium-Density Multi-
Household Residential) 

Statesboro Fire Department 

Northeast Location Area #2:  R-3 (Medium-Density Multi-
Household Residential) 

Statesboro Fire Department 

Northwest Location Area #3:  R-3 (Medium-Density Multi-
Household Residential) 

Statesboro Fire Department 

East Location Area #4:  R-3 (Medium-Density Multi-
Household Residential) 

Single-Family Dwelling 

West Location Area #5: R-6 (One-Household Residential) Single-Family Dwelling 

Southwest Location Area #6: R-3 (Medium-Density Multi-
Household Residential) 

Multi-Family Dwelling 

Southeast Location Area #7: MX (Mixed-Use) Single-Family Dwelling 

South Location Area #8:  R-3 (Medium-Density Multi-
Household Residential) 

Single-Family Dwelling 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

The subject site is an occupied 0.28-acre lot with a house on the site. The applicant intends 
to demolish the home and develop the property in conjunction with an adjacent property in 
order to develop multifamily apartments.   

The 2024 City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject site in the 
“Redevelopment Area” character area, which generally allows for the development of a 
number of residential housing types. This is especially appropriate when related to the 
overall area found within the Urban Redevelopment Plan. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands, nor is it in a flood zone. To resolve the 
stormwater needs caused by increased impervious surfaces on the site, the applicant has 
proposed underground detention on the site. This site would also be required to ensure that 
pervious pavers are added to the proposed parking lot.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property has access to both city water and sewer, and it is not projected that 
the traffic will be substantially impacted based on the proposed site plan.  

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS FOR DETERMINATION 

The Unified Development Code permits a zoning amendment subject to conditions if 
“approved by the mayor and city council based upon findings that the use is consistent with 
adopted plans for the area and that the location, construction, and operation of the 
proposed use will not significantly impact upon surrounding development or the community 
in general.”  

The Zoning Procedures Law, specifically the “Steinberg Criteria” provides minimum 
standards for local governments to consider in the rezoning of properties. Those standards 
are as follows: 

1. Will the zoning proposal permit a use that is suitable in view of the use and 
development of adjacent and nearby property? 

• While property would be contiguous and in alignment with the surrounding 
zoning, it would at a glance appear that the actual development is out of 
alignment with the neighborhood. This is not the case, and the proposed 
use would be a suitable use. 

2. Will the zoning proposal adversely affect the existing use or usability of 
adjacent or nearby property? 

• The properties in the neighborhood already have a mix of both single-family 
homes and duplex conversions. There are approximately 12 “apartments” 
on the section of West Inman between South College Street and Institute 
Street.  

3. Does the property to be rezoned have a reasonable economic use as 
currently zoned? 

• The property already has a home on the site, and the current zoning 
district does allow a by-right use for up to one accessory dwelling unit of 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

up to 750 square feet on the property. This could be placed in the rear of 
the site, but would not have appropriate access. 

 
4. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon 

the property owner. 

• The site is within the Urban Redevelopment Area, and has been outlined 
in the Redevelopment Area of the Comprehensive Master Plan. It is 
believed that the development of additional residential is vital to redevelop 
this neighborhood. 
 

5. Are there other existing or changing conditions affecting the use and 
development of the property which give supporting grounds for either 
approval or disapproval of the zoning proposal? 

• The development would substantially improve conditions in the 
neighborhood by removing the already zoned (and not under 
consideration) 113 West Inman Street.   
 

6. Does the zoning proposal conform to the Long-Range Land Use Plan of the 
Municipality? 

• It is Staff’s opinion that the project conforms to the Comprehensive Plan 
due to the proposed density of the project and associated development 
area. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 
Sketch Plan 

 
 



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 
Subject Property 

 
 

Eastern Property 

 
 
 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 
Western Property 

 
 

Southern Property 

 
 
 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 24-12-02 

 

 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Approval of RZ 24-12-02. If this petition is approved by the Mayor and 
City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

1. Approval of this zoning map amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
property. All construction must be reviewed and approved by the City. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on January 7, 2025, the 
Commission recommended approval of the request and staff conditions with a 7-0 vote 

 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: January 21, 2025 
 
RE: Reliance  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Tangie Johnson, District 1 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 





















Reliance2024 Inc  
Sandipkumar D. Patel 
17412 US Hwy 301 N 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 09-13-2024 This location meets all proximity 
and zoning requirements  

Fire Department Noel Small Approved 1/15/2025. 

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved  

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: January 21, 2025 
 
RE: Antoinette Café Kitchen  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 























Antoinette Cafe Kitchen 
Nikira Boggs, Samere Adams 
193 West Main St. 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 01-07-2025 

Fire Department Jon 
Patterson 

Approved 1-14-2025 

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved 1/10/25 

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: January 21, 2025 
 
RE: Huey’s of Statesboro  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 

















Huey’s of Statesboro 
Johny King 
232 S. Main St. 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 11-3-2024 

Fire Department    

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved 1/10/25 

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden  
 
From: Jennifer Joyner, Tax & License Coordinator 
 
Date: January 21, 2025 
 
RE: Happy Wok Asian Buffet Inc.  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6 Sec 6- l 3(a) 
 
(a) No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any 
distilled spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer, or malt beverages within the corporate limits of 
the City of Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been 
approved by the mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning and Development, Fire, Police, Legal, Building and Engineering 
recommended approval. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Shari Barr, District 5 
 
Attachments: Application and Department Approvals 
 
 























Happy Wok Asian Buffet Inc 
Hao Lin/Kevin Lin 
26 Independence Way 
 
 
Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 
 
Alcohol License Review  
           
 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 
 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved 12-16-2024  

Fire Department Noel Small Approved 12-16-2024 

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approved 1/14/25 

Legal Cain Smith Approve 1/14/25 

    

 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson  
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: January 14, 2025 
 
RE: January 21, 2025 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Hearing to consider a motion to revoke massage parlor license for 
Lisa’s Therapeutic Massage in accordance with City Ordinances 18-141 and 18-
143 due to allegations of illegal acts being performed there. 
 
Recommendation: Revocation 
 
Background: On November 14, 2024 Statesboro Police Department conducted 
an undercover operation at subject business. Chunying Hou and Jiaxiang Li 
were both arrested on prostitution related charges.   

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Shari Barr, District 5 
 
Attachments: Notice letter sent to business, relevant Code provisions  



Sec. 18-141. - Revocation or suspension of license.  

Any license issued for a massage establishment may be revoked or suspended by the city after notice 
and a hearing and upon finding any of the provisions of this article are violated or where any employee 
of the licensee, including a massagist, is engaged in any conduct which violate any of the state or local 
laws or ordinances at the licensee's place of business and the licensee has actual or constructive 
knowledge by due diligence. Such permit may also be revoked by the city after notice and hearing, upon 
recommendation by the director of the Bulloch County Health Department that the such business is 
being managed, conducted or maintained without regard to proper sanitation and hygiene. Further, a 
license or permit granted under this article may be revoked when the holder fails to actively supervise or 
monitor the conduct of employees, customers or others on the premises to insure compliance with this 
article. 

 

Sec. 18-143. - Revocation procedures.  

Whenever the code enforcement officer finds cause exists to revoke either the license or a massage 
establishment or permit of a massagist, a written notice of intention to revoke shall be furnished to the 
holder thereof no later than ten (10) days before a regular or called meeting of the mayor and city 
council. Such written notice shall list the grounds upon which the revocation is sought. At such hearing, 
the holder of the license or permit may make such showing as he or she deems proper and after such 
hearing, the mayor and city council shall determine whether grounds exist for revocation. For purposes 
of this section, notice shall be deemed delivered when personally served or when served by registered 
or certified mail, return receipt requested, within three (3) days after the date of deposit in the United 
States mail. 





 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Mr. Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
 
From:  Cindy S. West, Finance Director 
 
 
Date: January 16, 2025 
 
 
RE: Amendment of FY2025 Schedule of Rates, Fees and Fines 
 
Background:  The State of Georgia, with House Bill 1284, increased the minimum 
fine amount of Passing a School Bus Loading/Unlading Children to $1000.  The 
City’s current minimum fine is $745.  To be in compliance with state law, the City 
needs to change its minimum fine to $1000. 
  
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
 
Attachments:  N/A 
 
 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson 
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
                   I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 



RESOLUTION 2025-03:  A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE THIRD AMENDMENT 
TO THE CITY OF STATESBORO SCHEDULE OF RATES, FEES, AND FINES FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2025.  
 

 THAT WHEREAS, the City Council viewed and approved the City of Statesboro 
Schedule of Rates, Fees, and Fines that incorporates all departments inclusive for Fiscal 
Year 2025. 
 
 WHEREAS, it is required by the departments to uphold the policy and pricing as 
laid out within the document as the standard. 
           

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed a proposed Third 
Amendment to the Schedule of Rates, Fees, and Fines from the City Manager to update the 
minimum fine amount of Passing a School Bus Loading/Unloading Children per House 
Bill 1284. 
 
  WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to adopt this Third 
Amendment for Fiscal Year 2025; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  That the proposed changes to the Schedule of Rates, Fees and Fines, 
attached hereto as Attachment #1 and incorporated herein as a part of this Resolution, are 
hereby adopted as the Third Amendment for the City's Fiscal Year 2025 Schedule of Rates, 
Fees, and Fines. 
 
 Section 5.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 
and after its date of adoption. 
 
 Adopted this 21st day of January, 2025. 
 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
By:  Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 



 
ATTACHMENT #1 

 
FY 2025 THIRD SCHEDULE OF RATES, FEES AND FINES AMENDMENT 

 
Page 27: 40-6-163 PASSING AN UNLOADING/LOADING SCHOOL BUS:  Increase 

to $1000 per House Bill 1284 
 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson  
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: January 13, 2025 
 
RE: January 21, 2025 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Lease agreement to provide office space to Representative Rick 
Allen for an additional two years with no rent assessed. 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: City has traditionally provided office space in City Hall to our 
Congressional representative free of charge. This lease would continue the 
placement of the office in City Hall through Rep Allen’s upcoming two-year term 
in the U.S. House of Representatives. 

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed lease agreement  



















 
 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

    50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
     STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:   Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
Date:   January 16, 2025 
 
Re:  Fire Services Study 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Fire Service Fund 
 
Recommendation: 
Consideration of a motion to approve a contract with Goodwin Mills Cawood (GMC) in the amount of 
$60,000.00 to perform a fire services study of the Statesboro Fire Department.  
 
Background: 
City staff solicited Requests for Qualifications (RFQ) to conduct a financial study of the Statesboro Fire 
Department (SFD). The RFQ’s were advertised for 30 days and listed on the Georgia Procurement 
Registry. Two vendors submitted proposals and after interviews of both consultants staff recommended 
GMC. 
 
The scope of work by GMC will include the following: 1) Data Gathering and Evaluation of SFD 
operations; 2) Determination of Cost of Services and Level of Service Provided; 3) Analysis of Call Data 
and Correlation to Property Data; and, 4) Determination of Revenue Source(s) and Analysis of Suitability 
for a Fire Service Fee. Additionally, their work will also include study of current taxable and non-taxable 
properties, property uses and risk classes, current and future station locations, capital equipment, and 
long-range plans. This phase of work is anticipated to take approximately 6 months. 
 
GMC has performed studies for several fire departments in Georgia, including the implementation of 
successful fire service fee programs. Such work includes Garden City and McDuffie County. Their work 
with the Thomson-McDuffie Fire Department resulted in a successfully implemented fire service fee to 
improve delivery of fire services. McDuffie County has provided recommendation of GMC for this work. 
 
Budget Impact:   Fees for study will be paid from the Fire Fund Operating Budget. 
 
Council Person and District: All, Citywide 



1 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  
THIS Agreement, entered into effective as of the ____ day of ________, 2025, by and between 
the City of Statesboro, Georgia (the “CITY”) and Goodwyn Mills Cawood, LLC (the 
“CONSULTANT” or “GMC”) (collectively the “Parties”).  

WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to engage the CONSULTANT to provide the technical and 
professional services described in Exhibit A: Scope of Services (the “Scope of Services”), which 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, regarding the preparation of a Municipal 
Fire Service Fee Study; and 

WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT desires to provide the described services to the CITY;  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I – ENGAGEMENT OF THE CONSULTANT 
The CITY engages the CONSULTANT to provide, and the CONSULTANT agrees to provide, the 
services set forth in the Scope of Services in a professional and proper manner and in accordance 
with this Agreement. 

ARTICLE II – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
The CONSULTANT shall provide the professional, administrative, technical, and planning 
services to the CITY described in the Scope of Services (the “Project”). The Scope of Services 
may be amended only upon written agreement of the Parties. 

ARTICLE III – TIME OF PERFORMANCE 
The services to be provided pursuant to this Agreement shall commence upon issuance of a 
Notice to Proceed by the CITY and will continue until all tasks in the Scope of Services have been 
completed or termination of this Agreement as provided herein.  

The Project will proceed in accordance with the written schedule attached hereto as Exhibit C, 
which is incorporated herein by reference, and shall be completed within six (6) months from 
issuance of the Notice to Proceed, subject to written amendment of this Agreement. 

This Agreement shall terminate upon final closeout and approval by the CITY of the Project 
described in the Scope of Services.  

ARTICLE IV – GENERAL PROVISIONS 
A. Personnel: The CONSULTANT employs professional personnel capable of providing the 

Scope of Services in a satisfactory and proper manner or will secure the services of such 
personnel required to provide such services. 

B. Office Space: The CONSULTANT shall provide and maintain office space and facilities 
necessary to provide all services pursuant to this Agreement at no expense to the CITY. 

C. Subcontracting: None of the services to be provided by the CONSULTANT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall be subcontracted without prior written amendment of this Agreement. 
Any services subcontracted by the CONSULTANT shall be subject to each provision of 
this Agreement. 



2 
 

D. Access to Materials: The CITY shall make available to the CONSULTANT any maps, 
documents, planning materials, or any other information in its possession or otherwise 
readily available, which have a direct bearing on the Project, at no expense to the 
CONSULTANT. 

ARTICLE V – COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 
For services provided and expenses incurred pursuant to this Agreement, the CITY shall pay the 
CONSULTANT a total amount not to exceed $60,000. This amount is based on the fees and 
direct costs itemized in Exhibit B: Fees and Expenses, which is attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

Payment by the CITY shall be made upon presentation of written monthly invoices by the 
CONSULTANT to the CITY certifying the services provided and expenses incurred the preceding 
calendar month based on progress to date; provided however, that the total of said monthly 
invoices for the Project shall not exceed $60,000. 

The CITY and the CONSULTANT may, by written agreement, extend or shorten the term of this 
Agreement, change the Scope of Services, and/or increase or decrease the total amount to be 
paid by the CITY to the CONSULTANT.  

ARTICLE VI – REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS 
The CONSULTANT shall provide to the CITY a monthly status report of progress through the 
preceding calendar month with each monthly invoice. 

The CONSULTANT will maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property, and 
financial records, adequate to identify and account for all costs pertaining to the Agreement and 
such other records as may be deemed necessary by the CITY to assure proper accounting for all 
Project funds.  These records will be made available for audit purposes to the CITY or any 
authorized representatives of the CITY and will be retained by the CONSULTANT for three years 
after the expiration of this Agreement unless permission to destroy them is granted by the CITY. 

All of the reports, information, and data prepared or assembled by the CONSULTANT under this 
Agreement shall be the property of the CITY. The CONSULTANT shall not make such information 
available to any individual or organization without the prior written approval of the CITY unless 
required by law. 

No report, maps, or other documents produced in whole or in part under this Agreement shall be 
the subject of an application for copyright by or on behalf of the CONSULTANT. 

 

ARTICLE VII – CITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
The CITY shall: 

A. provide the CONSULTANT with complete information concerning the requirements of the 
Project;  

B. hold promptly all required meetings, serve all required notices, and pay for all costs 
incidental thereto, as expenses not included in this Agreement; and  

C. designate, in writing, a person to act as CITY's representative (the “City Project Manager”) 
with respect to the services to be provided under this Agreement.  



3 
 

The City Project Manager shall have complete authority to transmit instructions and to receive 
information with respect to the Project. 

ARTICLE VIII – TERMINATION 
Termination for Cause. If, through any cause, the COUNSULTANT shall fail to fulfill in a timely 
and proper manner its obligations under this Agreement, or if the CONSULTANT shall violate any 
of the covenants, agreements, or stipulations of this Agreement, the CITY shall have the right to 
terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the CONSULTANT of such termination and 
specifying the effective date thereof, at least five (5) business days before the effective date of 
such termination. In such event, all finished or unfinished documents, data, studies, surveys, 
drawings, maps, models, photographs, and reports prepared by the CONSULTANT pursuant to 
this Agreement will, at the option of the CITY, become the City of Statesboro’s property. The 
CONSULTANT shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for services 
satisfactorily provided. 

Termination Without Cause. The CITY may terminate this Agreement without cause at any time 
by giving at least ten (10) business days’ notice in writing to the CONSULTANT.  If the Agreement 
is terminated without cause, CONSULTANT will be paid for the services provided and expenses 
incurred up to the termination date. Written notice of termination may be given to the 
CONSULTANT by email delivered to the CONSULTANT’s e-mail address of 
ed.ditommaso@gmcnetwork.com. The CONSULTANT shall not provide any further services 
upon receipt of such termination notice. 

ARTICLE IX – NOTICE 

Any notice required or permitted by law or this Agreement to be given to the parties in writing may 
be given by sending same via registered or certified U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, and addressed 
as follows: 
 
To the CITY:    City of Statesboro  
     50 East Main Street 
     Statesboro, GA 30458 
     Attn: City Manager 

To the CONSULTANT:  Goodwyn Mills Cawood, LLC 
     114 Barnard Street, Suite 114-2B 
     Savannah, GA 31401  

Attn: Ed DiTommaso  
 

Alternatively, unless otherwise required by law, any notice required or permitted by law or this 
Agreement to be given to the parties in writing may be given by sending same via e-mail (which, 
for purposes of this provision, shall be considered “written” notice) to the following e-mail 
addresses: 

To the CITY:    jason.boyles@statesboroga.gov 

To the CONSULTANT:  ed.ditommaso@gmcnetwork.com 

Each party shall be obligated to notify the other party if the above mailing or e-mail addresses 
change, and neither party shall be required to send notice to an address different from those 
above unless that party has been so notified. 





5 
 

Municipal Fire Service Fee 
Exhibit A – Scope of Services  

 
The GMC Project Team will implement the following services in support of a future Statesboro 
Fire Fee. 

PHASE I: FIRE SERVICES FUNDING FEASIBILITY 
Task 1. Evaluate Data Pertaining to Fire Services. GMC will attend a Kick-Off Meeting with 
City staff to discuss the scope and schedule of this project and to outline additional data needs. 
Prior to the kickoff meeting, GMC requests any of the following information from the City for 
review: 

• A detailed description of the Statesboro Fire Department (SFD)’s Fire Services including: 
Current Staffing Levels, Locations and Mutual Aid Agreements, Insurance Services Office 
(ISO) Rating information, level of service assessment and future needs, equipment needs 
and capital plan, any other pertinent information 

• A five-year budget that includes operations, staffing, equipment, and capital 

• GIS information for tax parcels including ownership, property address, land use, mailing 
address, building square footage, and other relevant tables. 

• Three to Five years of fire call data. 

The GMC Project Team will evaluate existing City documents, ad valorem tax information, fire 
call data, existing aid agreements, reports, levels of service, budget allocations, projected long-
term capital needs, and other data pertaining to the provision of fire services.  

Review and Evaluate Outstanding Issues. Based on the information provided by the City, GMC 
staff will assist the City with development of program goals for the SFD and a future LOS policy. 
GMC staff will research, identify, and evaluate outstanding funding issues as they relate to 
provision of current and future fire services. This information will be needed to develop 
recommendations regarding viable funding options for fire services, the best apportionment 
methodology, and to assist the City in identifying policy decisions necessary to implement a fire 
fee.  
Task 2. Determine Full Costs of Service.  The GMC team will evaluate the full COS for fire 
service delivery using the City’s most current financial information including direct and indirect 
costs. This will include an evaluation of the current and future COS based on the City’s desired 
LOS. The future COS will be projected over a ten-year period beginning in FY 2025. It will 
include the costs of operations as well as capital needs including amortized costs related to 
major equipment purchases and capital projects. The GMC Project Team will attend project 
coordination meetings with City staff including, but not limited to management, financial, and 
SFD staff, to interactively review and finalize the budget projections.  

Task 3. Analyze Call Data and Correlate with Property Data. The GMC Project Team staff 
will evaluate three (3) to five (5) years of the City’s fire incident reports and correlate the fixed 
property uses on the reports to comparable property uses on the tax rolls. We will analyze all 
property use categories within the City to determine which parcels may receive a special benefit 
from the provision of fire services. As part of this analysis, we will identify the various 
classifications of properties, i.e. single family residential, multi-family residential, commercial, 



6 
 

industrial, institutional, public, etc., as well as their taxable status. Our staff will review the 
percentage of call volume, and the cost of service delivery related to those calls for each 
classification of property. Furthermore, we will quantify the cost benefit of fire services received 
by tax-exempt properties as a part of the cost apportionment process. It is also important to 
consider that some types of buildings/uses require special equipment, which has an associated 
cost, and the SFD must be prepared to provide fire services to these properties, even if the 
need never actually arises to suppress a fire.  GMC will meet with City staff to review the fire 
incident reports and discuss the preliminary results of this analysis to ensure that they are 
consistent with the experience of the SFD. 

As part of this task, GMC will develop a database using information from the tax assessor’s 
parcel data to assist with revenue projections based on different billing scenarios.  

Task 4. Develop Fire Fee Methodology. Utilizing the data developed previously, the GMC 
Project Team will develop a fair, reasonable and equitable method of apportionment and 
accurate classification of parcels using the current tax data and fire incident data reports. Fire 
incident data reports are essential for establishing recommendations for a rate structure that 
corresponds to the services received and benefit experienced by the various property classes 
even if the benefit is indirect or immeasurable. GMC will assess the potential methodologies for 
legal sufficiency and compatibility with the recommended fee collection method to determine 
which is the most appropriate for the City of Statesboro. 

In Georgia, fire fees have generally been assessed one of three ways: 

  

1) Assessed Value. Fees are based on the assessed value of the structure for which the 
service is provided. In this instance, properties with no structure do not subscribe for fire 
services.  In addition, the annual fire fee revenue is less stable because it can fluctuate 
based on property values, making it more difficult for long-range planning.    

 

2) Square Footage. Fees are charged based on an approximation of the cost to provide 
service to the property or other recipient of the service. The rationale behind this particular 
method is that the larger the structure, the more resources will be required to respond to a 
fire.  There are other building and site features that may also impact the cost of providing fire 
services, such as the flammability of the materials used to build the structure or stored within 
the structure. The more site/building parameters considered in the rate methodology, the 
more closely the fee will approximate the actual cost of providing the service.  

 

3) Needed Fire Flow. Some communities establish fire fees based on the needed fire flow 
that is required to respond to a fire using facility specific data for that site. Needed fire flow, 
as described in ISO’s Manual, “Guide for Determining Needed Fire Flow,” Edition 05-2008; 
is calculated by assessing numerous variables including: building square footage, building 
material, material storage, proximity and connection to other buildings, fire rated design, and 
the availability of sprinkler systems. Use of this methodology requires detailed Pre-Fire Plan 
information that is not normally available in property tax data and must be collected by the 
SFD in a format that is searchable by GMC project team staff, such as an excel file.  It 
should also be noted that this method takes considerable staff time to maintain since fees 



7 
 

need to be recalculated each time occupancy changes, which is why few communities have 
used this approach. 

 

Identify Service Delivery Issues.  GMC staff will identify and analyze any potential service 
delivery issues that may affect the selected methodology. For example, is there a higher 
LOS provided to a certain area of the City or a particular class of customers? Are there 
services provided to areas outside the City limits of Statesboro, and how does that LOS or 
COS differ? Can a risk multiplier be used be to recognize the additional burden different 
types of uses place on the department?   In order to ensure fairness and equity in the future 
fire fee methodology, it will be necessary to consider these issues during formation of our 
recommendations.  

Credit Policy Recommendations.  The existence of on-site fire protection/suppression 
facilities and/or emergency management programs which mitigate the response burden 
imposed on SFD should be taken into account when establishing the fire assessment fee 
charge for that property. We recommend that this reduction should be in the form of a credit 
on the fire fee, and we will make recommendations for a credit policy to address privately 
owned and maintained fire protection / suppression facilities, systems, or emergency 
management programs that mitigate the fire risk associated with the property and reduce 
the cost associated with provision of fire protection services by the City to that property.  The 
full credit manual would be developed during Phase II if the City elects to move forward with 
implementation of the fee. 

Present Results to City: The GMC Project Team will prepare a draft feasibility report that 
identifies the methodology, benefited properties, rates, and alternatives for funding fire services. 
The report shall also include a cost-benefit analysis, revenue generation projections, and the 
steps and timetable for implementing the fire fee within the City of Statesboro. The GMC Project 
Team will present the draft report to City staff for input. Based on feedback, GMC will revise the 
report as necessary, produce a final report, and present the results to the Mayor and Council. At 
this time, or a future meeting, this City can make the decision on whether to move forward with 
Phase II. 
We recommend that the presentation to City Council be preceded by a workshop or retreat with 
City Council where they can ask questions regarding the study in a more informal setting. It is at 
this work session, that the GMC would review the projections, which will allow the City Council 
to see the estimated revenue that could be generated through a fire fee. This would then be 
followed up by a formal presentation at a formal City Council meeting. The GMC Project Team 
will not begin Phase II until authorized to do so by the City Council. 

  



8 
 

 

City of Statesboro Municipal Fire Fee Study  
Exhibit B – Fees and Expenses 

 
ITEM  FEE 

PHASE I   
   
Task 1:  Data Gathering and Evaluation of Fire Department Data   $ 10,100 
   
Task 2:  Determine Full Costs of Services and Levels of Service  $ 14,500 
   
Task 3:  Analyze Call Data and Correlate with Property Data   $ 29,500 
   
Task 4:  Develop a Fire Fee Methodology   $ 5,900 

Total  $ 60,000 
 
  



9 
 

City of Statesboro Municipal Fire Fee Study  
Exhibit C – Project Schedule 

 

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson  
Paulette Chavers 
Ginny Hendley 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: January 14, 2025 
 
RE: January 21, 2025 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Consideration of MOU with Habitat for Humanity and Agape 
Worship Center regarding the residential redevelopment of real property in the 
Johnson St area. 
 
Recommendation: Approval 
 
Background: City is applying for a CHIP (Community Home Investment Program) 
grant for construction of new housing. It has been advised that an MOU such as 
this will aid in the application process. 

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Paulette Chavers District 2 
 
Attachments: Proposed MOU  



 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) 
 

Between 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, 
 

 
HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF BULLOCH COUNTY, and 

AGAPE WORSHIP CENTER 
 

 
This is an agreement between the City of Statesboro hereinafter called City, Habitat for Humanity of 
Bulloch County, hereafter called Habitat, and Agape Worship Center, hereinafter called Agape. 

 
I.  PURPOSE & SCOPE 

The purpose of this MOU is to clearly identify the roles and responsibilities of each party as 
they relate to the residential redevelopment of certain real property in the City. 
 
 

II.  BACKGROUND 
 
WHEREAS, Agape owns certain real property along and near Pine Street that it desires to redevelop 
for residential use,  
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to apply for a Community HOME Investment Program (CHIP) grant 
through the Georgia Department of Community Affairs in order to provide financing for affordable 
housing initiatives in the City, and 
 
WHEREAS, Habitat is experienced in all facets of affordable housing redevelopment and desires to 
assist the City and Agape in the provision of affordable housing. 
 
 
III. CITY DUTIES UNDER THIS MOU 
 City shall apply for the CHIP grant. It is a condition precedent to all other terms contained 
herein that said grant be awarded. City shall provide this funding for construction of six homes by 
Habitat and three more to be contracted with other contractors. City shall also receive all ultimate 
proceeds from the sale of the new homes and deposit such in a revolving fund for future affordable 
housing initiatives. City will waive any lien obligations for Agape on subject property. 
 
IV. AGAPE DUTIES UNDER THIS MOU 
 

Agape shall provide an in-kind contribution to the project by donating the subject real property 
subject to the reimbursement provisions contained in Section V below. 
 

V. HABITAT DUTIES UNDER THIS MOU 
 Habitat shall construct six of the nine contemplated homes to their building standards. Habitat 
shall further sell all nine properties in accordance with their eligibility requirements and screen all 
applicants to ensure compliance with said regulations. Habitat agrees to reimburse Agape $11,111.11 
upon sale of each of the nine contemplated homes. 



 

 
So Agreed this 21st day of January, 2025 
 
City of Statesboro     Habitat, Inc. 
 
 
_______________________          ____________________________ 

             Jonathan McCollar, Mayor      Kathy Jenkins, Director   
    
 
 Agape Worship Center 
 
 
 ___________________ 
 Donald Chavers, Pastor     
 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director – Public Works and Engineering 
     
Date:  January 10, 2025 
 
RE: Recommendation of Payment for Acquisition of Land 
 Avila/Meeks Tax Parcel ID MS57000003 000 
 
Policy Issue:  Acquisition of Undeveloped Real Property 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends approval of the attached purchase agreement and payment of $698,340.00 (per 
appraised per acre amount) for purchase of 38.73 acres of property to expand the inert landfill. 
 
Background:  
WSP (formerly Golder Associates, Inc.) has been working with the City of Statesboro since 1993 at the 
Lakeview Road landfill. As the engineer of record, WSP supports City staff through monitoring of the 
closed municipal solid waste landfill, operation of the existing transfer station and operation of the inert 
landfill at the Lakeview Road Landfill site. 
 
The existing inert landfill at the Lakeview Road Landfill has a remaining capacity timeline of approximately 
5 to 7 years. However, the projected community growth rate will shorten this timeline considerably. 
Further, the current site does not have sufficient soil to provide cover materials required to operate the 
inert landfill. The City has no additional property to expand operations or to borrow cover material from 
and now must import soils as cover material. 
 
WSP has previously performed a landfill siting study and investigated options for operations beyond the 
current permitted and available inert landfill. Initial options included siting a new inert landfill in a more 
central geographic location in the County. However, the final recommendation is to expand the inert 
landfill by acquiring adjacent property and seeking necessary permits for the available expansion. In fact, 
WSP begun preliminary engineering work in anticipation of moving forward with this process, which will 
provide capacity life of the inert landfill of approximately 20 years. 
 
Budget Impact:   
Expenses will be paid from Solid Waste Disposal Fund Operating Income and 2019 SPLOST funds. 

Council Person and District: 
District 1, Councilmember Tangie Johnson 
 
Attachment: Purchase Agreement 











thence N 28"30'51"; E a distane of 738.07'; to an iron pipe fomd;

fiqrce S 80"52'58'; E a distane of 1 350.00' ; to a 5/8" rebar set;

thence S 25"19'tZ'; E a dis'tance of 744.53' ; to a 518" rebar set;

fience S 55'33';00"; E a distarre of 180.@'; to a 518" rebar set;

fierpe S 88"51 '23"; E a dishne of 640.ffi'; to a 5/8" rebar et;

which isthe TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING,
having an area of 38.73 Acres.

ARTICLE II TERIVIS

Seller dnll convey a fee simple interest in Subject Property for corsideration mnsisting of Six
Hundred Nirrcty Eight Thorcand Three Hundred Forty ($094,340.00) dollars. Buyer furttrer acknor,rrledges
tha this sale wm pronpted by threat of condernnation

lN WITNESS WHEREOF, Buyer and Seller, by and throrlgh their autprized represntatives,
have herzunto execuEd, signed, and delivered this Agreorent in duplicatethe day, rnonth, and year first
above written, each of the said parties keeping one of the copies hereof.

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO,
GEORGIA

By:
JONATHAN MCCOLLAR, CITY MAYOR

Attest:
LEAH HARDEN, CITY CLERK

(Seal)

Marilyn Avila

, Rtr.^.J,- ruJ,'rnrutWBY
Brenda W Meela

Sl GN ED in the presence of:
-.d$*Wi'-..,
S >'iornnYhl 

'2-

: :E'-"-- : 
=

Z _... -p 
g gL\u^o r..f, *--

'%g;,16'':

2

Notary Public



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari R Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager  

 
From:   Darren Prather, Director – Central Services 
 
Date:  January 13, 2025 
 
RE: Recommendation: Bid Award Swat Response Vehicle 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends the City of Statesboro award the purchase of a 15 passenger SWAT response 
vehicle for the Statesboro Police Department to LVD Custom Specialty Vehicles in the amount of 
$146,255.00.. If approved, these purchases would be funded under the 2019 SPLOST. 

   
Dealership      Bid Amount 
1. LVD Custom Specialty Vehicles   $146,255.00 
2. Quality Vans &amp; Specialty Vehicles  $149,850.00 
 
Background: 
 
The City of Statesboro issued an invitation to bid for a 15 passenger SWAT Response Vehicle 
to numerous dealerships and advertised for over two weeks. LVD Custom Specialty Vehicles form 
Burlington, WI responded with the lowest bid, which included a $5,090.00 delivery fee. 
 
Budget Impact:    2019 SPLOST 
Council Person and District:   All 
Attachments:     None 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Tangie Johnson, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari R Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager  

 
From:   Darren Prather, Director – Central Services 
 
Date:  January 13, 2025 
 
RE: Recommendation: F-250 Truck for Parks Division 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends City of Statesboro award the purchase of a 2025 F250 4X4 Crew Cab for the 
Parks Division to JC Lewis Ford in the amount of $50,252.00. If approved, this purchase 
would be funded out of the GMA Lease Pool. 
 
 
Dealership     Bid Amount 

1. JC Lewis Ford    $50,252.00 
 

Background: 
The City of Statesboro issued an invitation to bid for a 2025 F250 4X4 Crew Cab for the Parks 
Division to numerous dealerships and advertised for over two weeks. JC Lewis Ford of 
Statesboro, was the only dealership to respond and therefore is recommended for the contract 
award. 
 
 
Budget Impact:     GMA Lease Pool 
Council Person and District:    All 
Attachments:      None 
 


	01-21-2025 Council Agenda
	01-07-2025 Council Minutes
	Agenda Memo-Surplus Ladder 2-1-15-25
	Council Memo_&_Packet_JAN_2025
	Reliance2024 alcohol
	Antoinette Cafe & Kitchen
	Huey's of Statesboro-alcohol
	Happy Wok (alcohol)
	Lisa's revocation memo
	Lisa's revocation ordinances
	Lisas Therapeutic Massage
	Agenda Memo FY2025 Schedule of Rates, Fees and Fines Third Amendment
	FY 2025 Statesboro Rates and Fees Resolution Amendment 3
	Allen lease memo
	City of Statesboro Lease
	Agape Habitat MOU Memo
	Agape Habitat MOU
	CC Memo _Land Purchase Avila-Meeks_Inert Landfill_draft 1-10-25
	Lakeview Purchase Agreement - combined
	Swat Rec
	Parks Truck
	Fire Service Fee Study - GMC_Statesboro Agreement.pdf
	PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE I – ENGAGEMENT OF THE CONSULTANT
	ARTICLE II – SCOPE OF SERVICES
	ARTICLE III – TIME OF PERFORMANCE
	ARTICLE IV – GENERAL PROVISIONS
	ARTICLE V – COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT
	ARTICLE VI – REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING REQUIREMENTS
	ARTICLE VII – CITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES
	Phase I: Fire Services Funding Feasibility




